
 

 
Telephone Enquiries: Democratic Services, (01254) 380116/380136/380184 
Email:  memberservices@hyndburnbc.gov.uk 
Published on Tuesday, 1 June 2021 

Page 1 of 3  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Cabinet 
 
Wednesday, 9 June 2021 at 3.30 pm), 
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Accrington 
 
Membership 
 
Chair: Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair) 
 
Councillors Paul Cox, Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP and Joyce Plummer 
 
(Please note that due to on-going social distancing measures, there will be only limited space 
available for members of the public) 
 

 

A G E N D A 
 
 

PART A: PROCEDURAL AND INFORMATION ITEMS 
 

1.   Apologies for Absence   
 
 

2.   Declarations of Interest and Dispensations   
 
 

3.   Minutes of Cabinet  (Pages 5 - 18) 
 
To approve the Minutes of the last meeting of Cabinet held on 17th March 2021. 
 

4.   Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups  (Pages 19 - 20) 
 
To receive the minutes of the meetings of the following bodies:- 

 

Public Document Pack



 

Page 2 of 3 

 

 

Name of Body Date of Meeting 

Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) 17th March 2021 
 

5.   Urgent Decisions Taken  (Pages 21 - 40) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), to receive a report on decisions 
taken under urgency procedures. The following decisions are attached:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio Holder 
 

Date of Approval 
 

(a) National Recovery Leisure Fund 
(NRLF) Award 

Councillor Munsif 
Dad BEM JP 

23rd March 2021 

(b) Appointment of an external expert 
consultant to work on the Council’s 
Levelling Up Fund bid. 

Councillor Miles 
Parkinson OBE 

26th March 2021 

(c) Super Slow Way project 
contribution 

Councillor Munsif 
Dad BEM JP 

22nd April 2021 

 

PART B: PORTFOLIO ITEMS 
 

6.   Reports of Cabinet Members   
 
To receive verbal reports from each of the Portfolio Holders, as appropriate. 
 

Leader of the Council (Councillor Miles Parkinson) 
 

7.   Portfolio Responsibilities 2021/22  (Pages 41 - 42) 
 
Report attached. 
 

8.   Appointment of Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups 2021/22  (Pages 43 - 52) 
 
Report attached. 
 

Portfolio Holder for Resources (Councillor Joyce Plummer) 
 

9.   Council Tax Data Sharing Agreement  (Pages 53 - 58) 
 
Report attached. 
 

PART C: EXEMPT ITEMS 
 

10.   Exclusion of the Public   
 
Recommended  That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the Local 

Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access 
to Information) (England) Regulations 2012, the public be 
excluded from the meeting during the following items, when it 



 

Page 3 of 3 

 

is likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that there 
will otherwise be disclosure of exempt information within the 
Paragraphs of Schedule 12A of the Act specified at the items. 

 
Details of any representations received by the Executive about why the following 
report should be considered in public – none received. 
 
Statement in response to any representations – not required. 
 

11.   Urgent Decisions Taken  (Pages 59 - 64) 
 
Exempt information by virtue of Paragraph 3 - Relating to the financial or business affairs 
of any particular person (including the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), to receive a report on decisions 
taken under urgency procedures. The following decisions are attached:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio Holder 
 

Date of Approval 
 

(a) Loan to Hyndburn Leisure Ltd Councillor Munsif 
Dad BEM JP* 

5th May 2021 

 
* NOTE: Councillor Munsif Dad BEM JP declared a personal interest in this matter prior 
to the urgent decision being taken.  Accordingly, approval was sought from an alternative 
Member, Councillor Joyce Plummer. 
 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
1 

 
CABINET 

 

 
Wednesday, 17th March, 2021 

 
Present:  Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE (in the Chair), Councillors Paul Cox (Vice 

Chair), Loraine Cox, Munsif Dad BEM JP, Jenny Molineux and 
Joyce Plummer 
 

In Attendance: Councillors June Harrison, Marlene Haworth and Kath Pratt 

  

 
This was a virtual meeting held using MS Teams and livestreamed on You Tube. 

 
166 Apologies for Absence 

 
There were no apologies for absence submitted on this occasion. 
 

167 Declarations of Interest and Dispensations 
 
There were no reported declarations of interest or dispensations. 
 

168 Minutes of Cabinet 
 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 10th February 2021 were submitted for 
approval as a correct record. 
 
Resolved - That the Minutes be received and approved as a 

correct record. 
 

169 Minutes of Committees, Boards, Panels and Working Groups 
 
The minutes of the following meeting were submitted: 
 

 Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) – 10th February 2021 

 
The Leader of the Council, Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, commented that a further 
meeting of the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) would take place after this meeting. 
 

170 Reports of Cabinet Members 
 
There were no verbal reports provided on this occasion. 
 

171 Rent and Service Charge Concessions for the Indoor Market Hall 
 
Councillor Paul Cox, Deputy Leader of the Council, provided a report seeking approval for 
the existing Cabinet approved scheme, which allowed for support to be provided to 
registered charitable organisations, to be extended to unregistered charitable organisations 
or such other social or community organisations whose aims, objectives or purposes were 
for public benefit and/or not for profit basis. 
 
Councillor P Cox highlighted that this proposal followed a report taken in August 2020 to 
support charitable organisations.  However, it had become apparent that there were other 

Public Document Pack

Page 5

Agenda Item 3.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

bodies established on a not for profit basis, which were not covered by the previous 
approval.  The intention was to standardise the approach taken in respect of all such 
bodies. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth, Leader of the Opposition, commented that she understood the 
rationale for the decision, but had some concerns that the change would lead to the indoor 
Market Hall becoming filled with charity stalls.  There was already a large number of such 
outlets within the Borough.  She suggested that a cross-party working group be established 
to develop a new plan for the Market Hall.  A lot of money had already been invested in the 
Market Hall infrastructure and more might be required.  Councillor Haworth and others had 
a wealth of ideas about its future and were passionate about the need for it to be 
successful.  Councillor Kath Pratt, Deputy Leader of the Opposition, suggested that there 
should be an overall limit on the number of charitable stalls allowed. 
 
The Leader of the Council indicated that, yesterday evening, the first meeting had taken 
pace of the Steering Group to discuss use of the Levelling Up Fund monies.  The project 
envisaged all stakeholders working together to secure the best possible outcomes. 
 
Councillor P Cox responded that he appreciated Councillor Haworth’s comments and 
acknowledged that the report could be interpreted as opening the floodgates to charity 
stalls.  However, the reality was that this was a change to ensure that all not for profit 
organisations were treated equally.  Individual lettings would be at the discretion of the 
Market Hall management.  Such lettings were on very short term leases only. 
 
Over the last 12 months lots of schemes had been implemented to draw in businesses into 
the Market Hall, including staggered rent for new stall holders, gradually increasing from 
zero over a period of 4 months.  Take up on the balcony had already started to increase.  
However, growth was difficult in the face of the pandemic.  Councillor P Cox had visited the 
Market last Wednesday to speak to traders.  They were optimistic that footfall was starting 
to increase.  Not for profit organisations would be only part of the mix of stalls inside the 
Market Hall.  Councillor Parkinson summarised by stating that the Market Hall would not be 
considered in isolation.  Last night’s meeting on Levelling Up had demonstrated that the 
right expert advice was needed and the right stakeholders would need to be involved in the 
regeneration of the high street. 
  
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
Cabinet had approved a scheme in August 2020 which supported registered charitable 
organisations.  However, it was now acknowledged that some organisations whose 
purposes might be ‘not for profit’ or for ‘community benefit’, did not fall within the general 
definition of a registered charity, but which Cabinet might nevertheless wish to support.  
 
Some charitable organisations might not necessarily be registered at the Charity 
Commission due to their low income levels.  Some community or not for profit organisations 
and social enterprises might adopt a legal structure which meant that they were not 
registered at the Charity Commission e.g. a Community Benefit Society regulated by the 
Financial Conduct Authority, or they might be non-charitable but not for profit e.g. a 
Community Interest Company. 
 
It was proposed that the Executive Director Environment be given delegated authority, 
following consultation with the Leader of the Council and Portfolio Holder, and at their sole 
discretion, to offer charitable organisations or other such organisations which were not for 
profit and whose purposes were for community or public benefit, a lease at a peppercorn 

Page 6



 
 
 

 

 
3 

rent and no service charge.  This was on condition that the lease was excluded from 
statutory security of tenure and could be terminated by the Council on short notice (such as 
two months or otherwise as the Executive Director decided, where a new tenant was 
offering to pay full rent and service charges). 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection/ 
 
If the recommendation was not approved, unregistered charitable organisations, and such 
other organisations whose aims objects or purposes were for public benefit and/or not for 
profit would either have to sign up to a lease at the appropriate full rent and service charges 
or leave the indoor Marker Hall. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves a discretionary scheme 

which permits support for both registered and 
unregistered charitable organisations, and such 
other organisations whose aims, objectives or 
purposes are for public benefit and/or not for profit, 
through peppercorn rents and no service charge as 
set out in paragraph 3.3 of this report and that 
authority be delegated to the Executive Director 
(Environment) to implement the discretionary 
scheme, following consultation with the Leader of 
the Council and Portfolio Holder accordingly. 

 
172 DFT Statutory Guidance - Proposed Amendments to the Taxi & Private Hire 

Licensing Policy 
 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report to advise 
Members of the outcome of the recent consultation relating to the changes to the taxi 
licensing policy, following the release of the new Statutory Guidance introduced by the 
Secretary of State for Transport relating to taxi and private hire licensing.  The report also 
sought approval of the new Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Policy. 
 
Councillor Plummer advised that the focus of the statutory standards was on protection of 
children and vulnerable adults, but would benefit all.  Common standards were required, 
which had been discussed nationally with the trade.  The Department for Transport (DFT) 
expected the standards to be implemented.  The Council had considered them carefully 
and reviewed its own policy in the light of the new guidance and carried out appropriate 
consultations with the taxi trade, public and other stakeholders.  No responses had been 
received to the consultation.  The report included a summary of the changes required to 
Hyndburn Borough Council’s Licensing Policy. 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
In July 2020 the Department for Transport (DFT) had issued new statutory guidance to 
licensing authorities responsible for the issuing of licences and regulating those in the taxi 
and private hire industry.  The guidance set out taxi and private hire vehicle standards.  The 
guidance stated that 'the Department has carefully considered the measures contained in 
the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards and had recommend that these 
should be put in to practice and administered appropriately to mitigate the risk posed to the 
public.  The purpose of setting standards was to protect children and vulnerable adults, and 
by extension the wider public, when using taxis and private hire vehicles.' 
 

Page 7



 
 
 

 

 
4 

The DFT had stated that the Statutory Guidance had been issued because 'there is 
evidence to support the view that taxis and private hire vehicles are a high-risk 
environment. In terms of risks to passengers, this can be seen in abuse and exploitation of 
children and vulnerable adults facilitated and in some cases perpetrated by the trade and 
the number of sexual crimes reported which involve taxi and private hire vehicle drivers.  
Links between the trade and child sexual abuse and exploitation have been established in 
many areas and other investigations continue.  Data on reported sexual assaults by taxi 
and private hire vehicle drivers evidence the risk to passengers; data from Greater 
Manchester and Merseyside suggest that, if similar offence patterns are applied across 
England, 623 sexual assaults per year are reported.  These figures do not however account 
for the under reporting of crime which is estimated to be as high as 83 percent in the Crime 
Survey for England and Wales.' 
 
The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enabled the Secretary of State for Transport to issue 
statutory guidance on exercising taxi and private hire vehicle licensing functions to protect 
children and vulnerable individuals who were over 18 from harm when using these services. 
For the purposes of this document, a child was defined as anyone who had not yet reached 
their 18th birthday; and the term “vulnerable individual” had the same meaning as the 
definition of a ‘vulnerable adult’ for the purpose of section 42 of the Care Act 2014, which 
applied where a local authority had reasonable cause to suspect that an adult in its area 
(whether or not ordinarily resident there):  
 

(a) had needs for care and support (whether or not the authority was meeting any of 

those needs),  

(b) was experiencing, or was at risk of, abuse or neglect, and  

(c) as a result of those needs was unable to protect himself or herself against the abuse 

or neglect or the risk of it.  

 
Further the guidance went on to say 'whilst the focus of the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards is on protecting children and vulnerable adults, all passengers will 
benefit from the recommendations contained in it.  There is consensus that common core 
minimum standards are required to regulate better the taxi and private hire vehicle sector, 
and the recommendations in this document are the result of detailed discussion with the 
trade, regulators and safety campaign groups.  The Department therefore expects these 
recommendations to be implemented unless there is a compelling local reason not 
to.' (DFT emphasis). 
 
The document set out a framework of policies that, under section 177(4), licensing 
authorities “must have regard” to when exercising their functions.  These functions 
included developing, implementing and reviewing their taxi and private hire vehicle licensing 
regimes. “Having regard” was more than having a cursory glance at a document before 
arriving at a preconceived conclusion. 
 
“Having regard” to these standards required public authorities, in formulating a policy, to 
give considerations the weight which was proportionate in the circumstances.  Given that 
the standards had been set directly to address the safeguarding of the public and the 
potential impact of failings in this area, the importance of thoroughly considering these 
standards could not be overstated.  It was not a question of box ticking; the standards 
would have to be considered rigorously and with an open mind. 
 
Although it remained the case that licensing authorities would have to reach their own 
decisions, both on overall policies and on individual licensing matters in light of the relevant 
law, it might be that the Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards might be drawn 
upon in any legal challenge to an authority’s practice, and that any failure to adhere to the 

Page 8



 
 
 

 

 
5 

standards without sufficient justification could be detrimental to the authority’s defence.  In 
the interest of transparency, all licensing authorities should publish their consideration of 
the measures contained in Statutory Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Standards, and the 
policies and delivery plans that stem from these.  The Department had undertaken to 
monitor the effectiveness of the standards in achieving the protection of children and 
vulnerable adults (and by extension all passengers). 
 
It followed then that the Council, as the licensing authority, must have regard to the 
statutory guidance and amend its policy accordingly and, unless there were compelling 
local reasons not to do so, the statutory guidance should be followed. 
 
On the whole Hyndburn Borough Council's Policy aligned quite well with the new guidance.  
Members were reminded that in October 2018 the Council had adopted the Institute of 
Licensing (IOL) Policy on determining the suitability of applicants in the hackney carriage 
and private hire trade and the DFT had consulted with the IOL and had adopted the same 
convictions policy. 
 
The new guidance did require some amendments to the Council’s policy if it were to be 
brought totally in line.  The amendments, as detailed in the report, are summarised below: 
 

 6 monthly DBS checks on drivers; 

 Licence holders should be required to notify the issuing authority within 48 hours of 

an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence 

involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence; 

 All existing licence holders would be required to undertake safeguarding training, 

which must include County Lines training.  New applicants would be dealt with 

differently, as set out in the report; 

 Private hire operators would be required to keep a register for 6 months of staff who 

were concerned with the booking and despatching of vehicles; and 

 Private hire operators would be required to produce a policy on employing ex-

offenders. 

 
Accordingly, there were only minimal changes required to the Council’s policy to bring it in 
line with the statutory requirements, and the proposals had been consulted upon locally.  
The Council had not received any response to the consultation other than verbal approval 
to some of the changes from some of the larger operators. 
 
The Policy had, therefore, been updated to include the changes and to consolidate all of the 
information relating to the rules and regulations and the Council’s convictions policy into 
one document.  A copy of the proposed policy had been appended to the report. 
 

There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet approves the introduction of the 

updated Taxi and Private Hire Licensing Policy to 
bring it in line with DFT requirements. 

 
173 Proposed Sale of Land at Church Canal Gateway, Blackburn Road, Church, 

Accrington 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio for Housing and Regeneration, provided a report informing 
Cabinet of the interest and bids received for the land on Church Canal Gateway, Blackburn 
Road, Church, Accrington, BB5 4HP, and seeking Cabinet’s approval to dispose of the 

Council’s interest in the site to the preferred bidder as set out in this report. 

Page 9



 
 
 

 

 
6 

 
Councillor L Cox confirmed that she was delighted to bring this report to the Cabinet, which 
would involve disposal of the site for retail or leisure use.  The site had been advertised and 
significant interest had been shown with the top four highest bids listed in the report.  
Acceptance of the highest offer, Bid A, was being recommended, subject to satisfactory 
terms being agreed and with the necessary delegations in place to finalise the 
arrangements. 
 
The Leader of the Council commented that he was pleased to see another brownfield site 
released for regeneration, as this site had remained undeveloped for some time.  The area 
was a key site at the Church Gateway and its redevelopment would provide new amenities 
for the residents of Church. 
 
Councillor Marlene Haworth registered her support for the project and asked if she could be 
made aware of the type of retail or leisure development proposed.  The Leader indicated 
that this could be made available privately to her, but at present the retailer wished to 
remain unnamed to protect commercial confidentiality. 
 
Councillor Munsif Dad also expressed support for the sale of the land and thanked the 
Portfolio Holder and officers for their work in bringing this project to fruition over the last four 
years, or so.  This was a prime spot for redevelopment. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The Church Canal Gateway site extended to approximately 1.57 acres.  The site had 
formerly been housing and was, therefore, not designated within the local plan, but 
discussions with the planning team had indicated support for mixed use, especially 
employment.  Retail use was not ruled out, but would require a sequential test to show that 
the town centre or other sites were not practical in terms of availability, suitability, or 
viability.  The site was also subject to “Planning Advice for Developments near Hazardous 
Installations” (PADHI) due to its close proximity to Blyth’s.  Previous advice had indicated 
that employment and retail uses were likely to be supported by the PADHI requirements, 
but this would need confirming. 
 
The Council’s in-house valuer had produced an updated valuation appraisal of the site 
based on a GDV (gross development value, costs and profit margin) that had resulted in a 
site value of £450,000, reflecting circa £260,000 per acre. 
 
The site had been placed on the open market by Trevor Dawson at the end of November 
2020, requesting that all offers be submitted to the Estates Team at HBC in writing by the 
20th December 2020.  In total, the Council had received 11 offers, all in varying degrees of 
detail, with the two highest offers (Bids A and B as set out in the report) in line with the 
Council’s valuations.  Cabinet was now being requested to review these two proposals and 
make a recommendation. 
 
For comparison, the top four highest bids to acquire the freehold for the Church Canal 
Gateway site were summarised in the report.  After careful consideration Cabinet were 
invited to support Bid A, an outline of which was a follows: 
 

 Offer: £500,000 subject to an exclusivity agreement and planning consent. 

 Use: Retail and Leisure. 

 Business Rates Annually: Estimated at £126,000 to £150,000 per annum. 

Page 10



 
 
 

 

 
7 

 Employment: 40/50 during construction and 25 once operational. 

 Bidder: A specialised retail land promotion company with a regional presence. 

 
The following reasons were given for Bid A being the preferred bidder:  
 

 It was the highest bid for the site; 

 There was a significant lack of retail locally and, therefore, the use as retail and 

leisure was the most suitable use in the locality; and 

 The proposal wouldl provide additional business rate revenue and provide local 

employment. 

 
Bidder A was a specialist retail land company with a regional presence, representing a 
strong interest from a retailer that wished to remain unnamed at this stage to protect 
commercial confidentiality.  The bidder was insisting on the Council granting an exclusivity 
agreement for a period of up to three months to finalise legal terms and to prepare a 
planning application.  Bidder “A” was also seeking legal terms that would make the 
proposed disposal subject to securing a satisfactory planning consent for retail and leisure 
use. 
 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection/ 
 
The Council could consider not selling the site: however, subject to the response to the 
public open space consultation, this option was not recommended because the proposed 
disposal provided the Council with an opportunity to generate a capital receipt and at the 
same time, redevelop the area for the social, environmental and economic wellbeing of the 
Borough. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet:  
 

(1) Considers the bids for the Council’s interest in the 
Church Canal Gateway site and agrees to the 
proposed disposal of the site to bidder “A” for the 
reasons set out in paragraph 3.5 of the report 
subject to a decision being made to proceed with 
the sale pursuant to recommendation (2) and 
subject to satisfactory terms being agreed in 
accordance with recommendation (3). 

 
(2) Approves the advertisement of the Council’s 

intention to dispose of public open space in 
accordance with Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and delegates authority to the 
Head of Regeneration and Housing to consider any 
responses received and, following consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, 
to decide whether to proceed with the disposal of 
the Church Canal Gateway site.  

 
(3) Subject to a decision being made to proceed with 

the sale pursuant to recommendation (2): 
 

(i) Delegates authority to the Head of Regeneration 

and Housing to agree the terms for the disposal 

of the Council’s interest in the site at Church 

Page 11



 
 
 

 

 
8 

Canal Gateway with bidder “A”, following 

consultation with the Executive Director (Legal 

and Democratic Services); and 

 
(ii) Following agreement of terms for the disposal 

of the Council’s interest in the Church Canal 

Gateway site, authorises the Executive 

Director (Legal and Democratic Services) to 

finalise and execute all legal documents and 

arrangements to secure the disposal of the 

Church Canal Gateway site to bidder “A”. 

 
With the approval of the Cabinet the following two items were taken next on the Agenda. 
 

174 Grant of Lease of King George V Playing Fields, Car Park & Associated Changing 
Pavilion to Accrington Stanley FC 
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson OBE, Leader of the Council provided a report seeking approval 

from Cabinet to grant a lease of part of King George V Playing Fields in Accrington, 

including associated car park and changing pavilion to Accrington Stanley FC Limited and 

to agree the arrangements for the grant of the proposed lease. 

The report also sought approval for the dedication of Oak Hill Park, Accrington, to Fields in 

Trust, and the dedication of King George V Playing Fields to Fields in Trust, if required, and 

the entry into all other ancillary agreements with third party interests as might be required in 

order to facilitate the grant of the above lease. 

The Leader of the Council referred to a minor correction to paragraph 2.2 of the report, 
which should refer to ‘paragraph 3.18’ not ‘paragraph 3.8’.  The Leader indicated that 
Accrington Stanley FC (ASFC) were a national brand and the club was in need of 
appropriate training facilities.  The Council owned a site at King George V Playing Fields, 
which was currently not used to its full potential.  Accordingly, the needs of both 
organisations were closely aligned.  It was, therefore, proposed to grant a lease for the use 
of the site to ASFC on the terms set out in the report. 
 
Additional agreements might be required with Fields in Trust, Sport England, the Football 
Foundation and the Secretary of State for Housing Communities and Local Government to 
facilitate the lease. 
 
Accrington Stanley FC was going from strength to strength and was a source of pride to 
both residents and supporters from further afield.  In order to stay at the level of 
professional football currently enjoyed, the ASFC would require access to similar facilities to 
other League 1 clubs.  The site overlooked the town of which they club were a part.  The 
club would make a significant investment in the site and there would be some community 
use available.  The financial contribution from the football club to the Council, in the sum of 
£550k, could be reinvested in the development of other leisure facilities, such as those at 
Wilsons Playing Fields. 
 
Under the stewardship of Andy Holt, ASFC had emerged from a difficult financial position 
and was fully now engaged with the Council in realising its plans and ambition.  The club 
attracted thousands of visitors to the town, with hotels and pubs all benefiting from the 
additional trade. 

 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 

Page 12



 
 
 

 

 
9 

 
Reason for Decision 
 
The detailed reasons for the decision were set out in the report, which included information 
on the following: 
 

 Previous works on the site; 

 Community use agreement; 

 ASFC training needs and proposed usage of the site; 

 Changes to demand from community football; 

 Charities Commission and Fields in Trust matters and implications for Oakhill Park; 

 Section 123 Local Government ct 1972 - disposal of land implications and 

procedure; 

 Valuation and economic, social or environmental well-being considerations; 

 Sports England and Football Foundation requirements; 

 Heads of Terms; 

 Anticipated benefits to both the Borough and football club; and 

 Capital receipt and anticipated revenue savings. 

 
Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection/ 
 
Not to lease the King George V Playing Fields, including associated car park and changing 
pavilion to Accrington Stanley FC.  This was not recommended because leasing the site to 
ASFC would help to facilitate the club’s development and ensure increased use and 
development of this underutilised site, which incurred costs of £30,000 per annum. 
 
Marketing the site for development to ascertain if its full unrestricted value could be 
undertaken, although this had not been a consideration to date as the site was not currently 
allocated for development. 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet:  
 

(1) Approves the advertisement of the Council’s 
intention to dispose of public open space in 
accordance with Section 123(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and delegates authority to the 
Head of Regeneration and Housing to consider any 
responses received and, following consultation with 
the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, 
to decide whether to proceed with the disposal; and  

 
(2) Subject to the outcome of the decision at (1) and, if 

required, to the consent of the Secretary of State for 
Housing Communities and Local Government, 
agrees to lease King George V Playing Fields in 
Accrington including associated car park and 
changing pavilion (as shown edged red on the plan 
attached to the report) to Accrington Stanley 
Football Club Limited on the terms set out in 
paragraph 3.18 of this report being in any event 
satisfied that the disposal is likely to contribute 
towards the achievement of any one or more of the 
following to the Borough or any persons within it: 

Page 13



 
 
 

 

 
10 

 
i) the promotion or improvement of economic well-

being; 

ii) the promotion or improvement of social well-

being; 

iii) the promotion or improvement of environmental 

well-being; and  

 
(3) Delegates authority to the Head of Housing and 

Regeneration, in consultation with the Executive 
Director of Legal and Democratic Services and 
Portfolio Holder, to agree the detailed terms of the 
lease with Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited; 
and 

 
(4) Delegates authority to the Head of Housing and 

Regeneration, in consultation with the portfolio 
holder to agree the detailed terms of any documents 
or other agreements required by Fields in Trust, 
Sport England and the Football Foundation in 
connection with the proposed lease and thereafter 
to instruct Legal Services to complete the lease to 
Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited and any 
documents or other agreements with Sport England, 
Fields in Trust and the Football Foundation that may 
be required to facilitate the grant of the lease; and 

 
(5) If required to facilitate the grant of the lease to 

Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited and 
subject to the consent of the Secretary of State for 
Housing Communities and Local Government, if 
required, agrees to the re-dedication of King George 
V Playing Fields to Fields in Trust in perpetuity 
being satisfied that the disposal is likely to 
contribute towards the achievement of any one or 
more of the following to the Borough or any persons 
within it: 

 
i) the promotion or improvement of economic well-

being; 

ii) the promotion or improvement of social well-

being; 

iii) the promotion or improvement of environmental 

well-being; and 

 
(6) If required to facilitate the grant of the lease to 

Accrington Stanley Football Club Limited and 
subject to the consent of the Secretary of State for 
Housing Communities and Local Government if 
found necessary, agrees to the dedication of Oakhill 
Park Accrington (shown edged blue at Appendix 2 to 
the report) or part thereof to Fields in Trust in 
perpetuity being satisfied that the disposal is likely 
to contribute towards the achievement of any one or 

Page 14



 
 
 

 

 
11 

more of the following to the Borough or any persons 
within it: 

 
i) the promotion or improvement of economic well-

being; 

ii) the promotion or improvement of social well-

being; 

iii) the promotion or improvement of environmental 

well-being. 

 
175 Financial Position January 2021 - Report for the Year Ending 31st March 2021 

 
Councillor Joyce Plummer, Portfolio Holder for Resources, provided a report informing 
Cabinet of the financial spending of the Council up to the end of January 2021 and the 
financial forecast outturn position for the Accounting Year 2020/21. 
 
Councillor Plummer highlighted key elements of the report, as follows: 
 

 The adverse variance forecast had been reduced to £225,000 from an original 

forecast of between £1M – £2M; 

 But for COVID-19 the Council would have returned a surplus; 

 Additional grants and further savings had helped the Council’s position; 

 Potential losses and the uncertain position at Hyndburn Leisure had now been 

stabilised.  A bid for £170k support from Government was likely to be successful, 

but would be split over 2 years (£50k for 2020/21 and £120 for 2021/22).  The 

Council would need to cover the £120k shortfall in 2020/21, which equated to 

around half of the Council’s adverse variance. 

 
Councillor Marlene Haworth enquired about the reason for the additional staffing costs for 
Regeneration and Property Services, in the sum of £228k (paragraph 3.8 of the report 
refers).  This did not appear to be consistent with the practice of redeploying staff, as 
necessary, during the pandemic.  It would be useful to receive an explanation of how the 
additional costs were incurred.  The Leader indicated that the Portfolio Holder would 
provide a written response on this point. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reason for Decision 
 
The spend for the first 10 months of the financial year to the end of January 2021 was 
£9,382,000 compared to a Budget of £10,919,000 giving a positive variance of £1,537,000 
over the first 9 months of the year. 
 
The current forecast spend to the end of the financial year in March 2021 was £11,452,000 
compared to a Budget of £11,227,000.  This forecast produced an adverse variance of 
£225,000 by the end of the financial year.  The adverse variance across the Council was 
attributable to the impact of COVID-19 on the Council’s overall financial position, requiring it 
to spend additional sums to address the impact of the pandemic while at the same time 
suffering a reduction in its income, due to the downturn in economic activity stemming from 
the pandemic. 
 
The predicted level of variance against the Budget could be managed within the Council’s 
overall reserves. 

Page 15



 
 
 

 

 
12 

 
The financial detail was set out in a table at the end of the document and the report also 

included more detailed commentary about expenditure in the following service areas: 

 Environmental Services; 

 Culture and Leisure Services; 

 Planning and Transportation ; 

 Regeneration and Property Services; 

 Policy and Corporate Governance; and 

 Non Service Items. 

 
The figures for service areas include estimated losses in income due to the pandemic less 
additional specific Government funding to help offset some of the losses incurred.  Overall, 
the authority had estimated a loss in income across the Council of £1,043,000 and had 
assumed the Government would provide a grant of £593,000 to offset those losses.  The 
estimate was based around the Government guidance issued in this area.  This process 
was subject to further review and a year-end reconciliation under the Government’s rules 
around this grant, so the figures were subject to confirmation and revision.  This would only 
take place after the financial year-end.  As such they could move upwards or downwards as 
a consequence, potentially by significant amounts as the scheme was new and untested. 
 
The estimates around expenditure necessary to fight COVID-19 were subject to more 
uncertainty than in the normal forecasting of expenditure, given the unprecedented 
demands and changing nature in this area and, therefore, these forecasts were subject to 
larger variance than usual within a local authority Budget. 
 
The Council expected a substantial increase in the non-payment of Council Tax and 
Business Rates, as well as a large rise in the numbers of Council Tax Support Claimants 
due to the pandemic.  Due to the statutory requirements around accounting for these 
transactions the losses in these areas this year would not manifest themselves until future 
year budgets and would be dealt with by adjustments to the Council’s revenue levels in 
later years. 
 
The Government had potentially indicated that it would ensure all Tier 3 Councils were able 
to balance their 2020/21 and 2021/22 Budgets and, therefore, funding might be available to 
reduce the adverse variance to zero by the end of the year.  However, at this stage no 
details had been provided around this potential extra financial support that might be 
available and, therefore, this funding was not included within this Budget forecast. 
 
The level of adverse variance currently predicted would need to be funded from existing 
reserves if the extra funding did not materialise.  The existing level of Council Reserves 
would be able to absorb such an adverse variance without a major impact on the Council’s 
overall financial position. 
 

There were no alternative options for consideration or reasons 
 
Resolved - That Cabinet notes the report on the financial 

position as at January 2021 and asks Corporate 
Management Team to continue to reduce costs and 
increase income over the remaining weeks of the 
financial year. 

 
176 Exclusion of the Public 

 

Page 16



 
 
 

 

 
13 

Resolved - That, in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) 
(Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012, the public be excluded from the 
meeting during the following item, when it was 
likely, in view of the nature of the proceedings that 
there would otherwise be disclosure of exempt 
information within the Paragraph at Schedule 12A of 
the Act specified at the item. 

 
177 Urgent Decisions Taken 

 
 
Exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
In accordance with Executive Procedure Rule B16(c), Members considered a report on the 
following decisions taken under the urgency procedure:- 
 

No. Decision Heading Portfolio 
Holder 

Date of 
Approval 

(a) Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme - Grant 
offer and proposed delivery arrangements 

Cllr M 
Parkinson 
OBE 

25th February 
2021 

 
Resolved - To note the report on urgent decision taken. 
 

178 Proposed Disposal of the Council's Land Known as Clayton Triangle 
 
Exempt Information under the Local Government Act 1972, Schedule 12A, Paragraph 3 – 
Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular person (including 
the authority holding that information) 
 
Councillor Loraine Cox, Portfolio Holder for Housing and Regeneration, provided a report 
seeking the Cabinet’s approval to the disposal of the Council’s interest in the land known as 
Clayton Triangle, for residential development as set out in the report. 
 
Councillor L Cox was pleased to report the substantial progress made in relation to this key 
brownfield site.  There had been lots of interest in the site over the years, but until now 
nothing had come to fruition.  The Council was working closely with the developer and 
current land owners to make the site available for a good quality housing development. 
 
Approval of the report was not a key decision. 
 
Reasons for Decision  
 
The reasons for the decision were set out in the exempt report. 
 
Alternative Options Considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
The alternative options considered and reasons for rejection were set out in the exempt 
report. 
 

Page 17



 
 
 

 

 
14 

Resolved - That the recommendations as set out in the exempt 
report be approved. 

 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 18



 
1 

 
CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING) 

 

 
Wednesday, 17th March, 2021 

 
Present:  
 
 
 
In Attendance: 

Councillor Loraine Cox (in the Chair),  
Councillors Munsif Dad BEM JP and Miles Parkinson OBE 
 

Apologies Patrick McGinley 

  

 
177 Apologies for Absence, Substitutions, Declaration of Interest and Dispensations 

 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillor Patrick McGinley who 
attends the committee as an observer.  
 

178 Minutes of the Last Meeting(s) 
 

The Minutes of the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming) meeting held on the 24th 
February 2020 and 10th February 2021 were submitted for approval as a correct 
record. 
 
Resolved – That the Minutes be received and approved as a correct record.  
 

179 Street Naming Proposal - Ribblesdale Avenue, Accrington 
 

The Chief Planning and Transportation Officer submitted a report to seek approval 
for the naming of the following Streets for a new build residential development 
located off Ribblesdale Avenue, Accrington. 
 

 Bowler Avenue  

 Fields Avenue  
 
Councillor Miles Parkinson requested to rename the second street (Fields Way) to 
David Lloyd Way. Although this does go against the Council’s Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy which states not to name streets after living people.  There are 
numerous exceptional circumstances to justify the reason and to preserve the 
exclusivity of this kind of naming it needs to be applied sparingly. 
 
 
David Lloyd is already a Freedom of the Borough and this would be another great 
recognition to show him how proud the Council is of his service and cricketing years 
within the borough.  
 
Councillor Munsif Dad confirmed he supported the recommendation.  
 
Resolved – That the streets be named Bowler Avenue and David Lloyd Way.  
 

Public Document Pack

Page 19

Agenda Item 4.



 
 
 

 

 
2 

 
 
 
 

Signed:…………………………………………… 
 

Date: …………….………………………………………… 
 

Chair of the meeting 
At which the minutes were confirmed 

 
 

Page 20



1 of 2 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION 
 

(Executive Procedure Rule B16) 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Summary and Approvals 
  

1. Title of Report  National Leisure Recovery Fund 
 

2. Report Author  Scrutiny and Policy Officer 
 

3. Purpose of Report 

 
3.1 The National Leisure Recovery Fund (NRLF) seeks to support eligible public sector leisure 

centres to reopen to the public, giving the sport and physical activity sector the best chance 
of recovery to a position of sustainable operation over the medium term. Sport England have 
worked with the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS) to set the fund 
criteria and will act as the accountable body for its administration and monitoring - on behalf 
of DCMS. 

 
3.2 A total of £100 million is available as a biddable fund to eligible local authorities in England, 

which will be allocated in a single funding round covering the period 1 December 2020 to 31 
March 2021. 

 
3.3 As an eligible local authority, the Council successfully bid for £160,000 (The maximum 

available to us) to support the reopening of Hyndburn and Mercer hall Leisure Centres after 
enforced closures due to Covid-19 restrictions. An additional sum of £1542 is awarded for 
monitoring and evaluation. 

 
3.4 Subsequently, Sport England granted an additional award to all successful Local Authorities. 

The additional award was proportionate to the amount already granted, which amounts to an 
additional £10,985 for Hyndburn. Therefore the total amount of grant awarded is £172,527. 
The additional £10,985 is by way of a variation to the main agreement. 

 
 

4. Decision requested 

 
4.1 That Cabinet delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to enter into a legal 

agreement with Sport England for the NRLF award of £172,527. 
 
4.2 That the amount of £170,985 be passed on to Hyndburn Leisure as the Operator of 

Hyndburn and Mercer Hall Leisure Centres. 
 
4.3 That the Deputy Chief Executive is delegated authority to enter into an agreement with 

Hyndburn Leisure which passes on the obligations of the agreement between the Council 
and Sport England to Hyndburn Leisure. 

 
4.4 That Cabinet notes that the clauses in the agreement with Sport England are non-

negotiable. Whilst the agreement contains particular clauses that the Council may have 
wished to avoid had the agreement been negotiable, the rewards of the £172,527 funding 
outweigh the risks of entering into the agreement. 

 
4.5 That officers be authorised to waive contract procedure rules in order to commission a 

provider nominated by Sport England to carry out monitoring and evaluation at a cost of 
£1542. This is a condition of the award from Sport England and is included in the grant 
amount. 

 Page 21

Agenda Item 5.



2 of 2 

 

5. Reason for Urgency 

 
5.1 The Council has only 14 days upon receipt of the agreement from Sport England to sign it. 
 
5.2 The Council must have an agreement in place with Hyndburn Leisure prior to entering into 

an agreement with Sport England. 
 

6. Approvals of Members and Officers 

 

Designation Signature to give Approval 

Elected Members  
 

Leader of the Council,  

Cllr Miles Parkinson 

Approved by email. 

 

Deputy Leader of the Council,  

Cllr Paul Cox 

Approved by email. 

 

Portfolio Holder, 

Cllr Munsif Dad 

Approved by email. 

 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in), 

Councillor June Harrison 

 

Agreed by email. 

 

Officers 

 

 

Chief Executive, Mr. David Welsby  

 

Approved by email 

Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker) 

 

- 

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 

 

- 

Chief Officer/Head of Service,  

Joe McIntyre 

 

Approved by email 

 
 

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):      Tuesday, 23
rd
 March 2021 

Page 22



Page 1 of 5 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 18 March 2021 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Munsif Dad BEM, JP - Education, Leisure 
and Arts 

REPORT AUTHOR: Ben Caulfield, Scrutiny and Policy Officer 

TITLE OF REPORT: National Recovery Leisure Fund (NRLF) Award 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet of the successful application to the National Recovery Leisure Fund 

(NRLF) for £172,527 to support the reopening of Leisure Facilities, and seek authority 
to enter into legal agreements with Sport England and Hyndburn Leisure. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to enter into a legal 

agreement with Sport England for the NRLF award of £172,527. 
 
2.2 That the amount of £170,985 be passed on to Hyndburn Leisure as the Operator of 

Hyndburn and Mercer Hall Leisure Centres. 
 
2.3 That the Deputy Chief Executive is delegated authority to enter into an agreement with 

Hyndburn Leisure which passes on the obligations of the agreement between the 
Council and Sport England to Hyndburn Leisure. 

 
2.4 That Cabinet notes that the clauses in the agreement with Sport England are non-

negotiable. Whilst the agreement contains particular clauses that the Council may have 
wished to avoid had the agreement been negotiable (as set out in clause 3.10 below), 
the rewards of the £172,527 funding outweigh the risks of entering into the agreement. 

 
2.5 That officers be authorised to waive contract procedure rules in order to commission a 

provider nominated by Sport England to carry out monitoring and evaluation at a cost 

Page 23



Page 2 of 5 
 

of £1542. This is a condition of the award from Sport England and is included in the 
grant amount. 

 
 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Like many sectors, the leisure industry has been hit hard by the Covid-19 Pandemic. 

Hyndburn Leisure typically generates around £2m income each year and has a similar 
level of expenses. COVID 19 has forced it to significantly curtail its income generating 
activities and close many of its facilities for long periods during 2020/21. It is expected 
that its revenue generation will not return to normal levels immediately in 2021/22, as 
the pandemic will continue to limit attendance at its sport centres and other sites. While 
the Trust has taken very positive steps to reduce its costs during the pandemic and 
generate new income from other sources it expects to end the 2020/21 financial year 
with a significant overspend for the current financial year of somewhere between 
£650,000 and £900,000 due to COVID 19. A return to some level of normal activity at 
some point in 2021/22 will allow the Trust to perform much better in 2021/22 than in 
2020/21, but it would still be expected that they will trade with some financial loss in 
this year. This level of financial loss would place Hyndburn Leisure in a grave financial 
position and its future would be in jeopardy. 

 
3.3 The National Leisure Recovery Fund (NRLF) seeks to support eligible public sector 

leisure centres to reopen to the public, giving the sport and physical activity sector the 
best chance of recovery to a position of sustainable operation over the medium term. 
Sport England have worked with the Department for Digital, Culture, Media and Sport 
(DCMS) to set the fund criteria and will act as the accountable body for its 
administration and monitoring - on behalf of DCMS. 

 
3.4 A total of £100 million is available as a biddable fund to eligible local authorities in 

England, which will be allocated in a single funding round. 
 
3.5 As an eligible local authority, the Council successfully bid for £160,000 (The maximum 

available to us) to support the reopening of Hyndburn and Mercer Hall Leisure Centres 
after enforced closures due to Covid-19 restrictions. An additional amount of £1,542 
has been awarded for monitoring and evaluation, which under the terms of the 
agreement must be paid out to the organisation who Sport England have chosen to 
carry out the monitoring and evaluation work. 

 
3.6 Subsequently, Sport England granted an additional award to all successful Local 

Authorities. The additional award was proportionate to the amount already granted, 
which amounts to an additional £10,985 for Hyndburn. Therefore the total amount of 
grant awarded is £172,527. The additional £10,985 is by way of a variation to the main 
agreement. 

 
3.6 Sport England have confirmed that 30% of the grant can be used to cover losses 

suffered in the enforced closure period of January – April 2021 at Hyndburn and 
Mercer Hall Leisure Centres. The remainder of the grant is to support the costs 
associated with the reopening of these facilities, and are outlined in the agreement. 

Page 24



Page 3 of 5 
 

The following expenses from the Operator (Hyndburn Leisure) are covered under the 
agreement: 

- Staffing 
- Utilities 
- Repairs and maintenance 
- Equipment 
- Management costs 
- Cost of sales 
- Other expenditure 

 
3.7 It should be noted that this grant will by no means cover the expected losses incurred 

by Hyndburn Leisure due to impacts of COVID-19 in full, but are a welcome 
contribution. 

 
3.8 In addition, the grant may only be used at the facilities (Hyndburn and Mercer Hall 

Leisure Centres) outlined in the agreement, and cannot be used to support losses at 
other buildings operated by Hyndburn Leisure. 

 
3.9 Sport England have indicated that due to the need to award funding as quickly as 

possible, the agreement is non-negotiable. The Council has 14 days from the date the 
agreement is sent to sign and return it in order to secure the funding. Whilst the 
agreement contains particular clauses that the Council may have wished to avoid had 
the agreement been negotiable, the rewards of the £172,527 funding outweigh the 
risks of entering into the agreement. It should also be noted that any of the risks in the 
obligations of the agreement will end after a maximum of two years. 

 
3.10 These risks are summarised below: 
 

- The agreement contains onerous requirements to report monitoring and evaluation 
data. As the Council does not have access to Hyndburn Leisure’s systems and 
data, these conditions will be passed directly to Hyndburn Leisure.  However the 
Council is directly obligated under the terms of its agreement with Sport England to 
provide this extensive and detailed statistical information to Sport England 
notwithstanding the separate agreement with Hyndburn Leisure and is entirely 
reliant on Hyndburn Leisure in this respect. 

 
- The agreement contains extensive clauses relating to the operation of the facilities. 

Again, these will by passed to Hyndburn Leisure as the operator of the buildings.  
However the Council is directly obligated under the terms of its agreement with 
Sport England to provide this detail notwithstanding the separate agreement which 
will be entered into with Hyndburn Leisure and is entirely reliant on Hyndburn 
Leisure in this respect. 

 
- During the term of the agreement, the Council may not sell, transfer, assign, grant 

or dispose of any freehold or leasehold interest in all or any part of the 
Facilities ……… without Sport England’s prior approval in writing. It is likely that 
alterations to the lease agreements at these buildings (for example in respect of the 
ongoing decarbonisation programme) may require the written consent of Sport 

Page 25



Page 4 of 5 
 

England and this may potentially cause delays in respect of future works and 
initiatives relating to these buildings.  

 
- The agreement requires the Council to have an appropriate Equality Policy, 

Safeguarding Policy and Procedure and Conflict of Interest Policy in place. These 
are covered under existing Council policies. As the operator and ultimate grant 
recipient, Hyndburn Leisure will also be required to have such policies in place and 
be required to provide copies of them to the Council and Sport England on request.   

 
- The Grant does not represent consideration for a taxable supply to Sport England 

and is therefore not subject to Value Added Tax (“VAT”). If HM Revenue and 
Customs rules that VAT is payable, then the amount of the Grant payable by Sport 
England will be deemed to be inclusive of VAT. The Applicant acknowledges that 
Sport England will not be obliged to make any further payment in addition to the 
Grant in respect of any VAT. Officers should clarify the VAT situation before any 
payments are made to Hyndburn Leisure. 

 
- The agreement is subject to several clawback clauses, whereby the Council would 

be liable to payback up to the full amount of the grant to Sport England.  These 
clawback provisions will be included in the Council’s agreement with Hyndburn 
Leisure but this does not obviate the Council’s contractual responsibility to Sport 
England 

 
 
3.11 Prior to entering into the agreement with Sport England, the Council will enter into an 

agreement with Hyndburn Leisure which replicates the conditions of the award 
imposed on the Council. However, the Council does remain directly liable to Sport 
England under the terms of the Agreement between them notwithstanding the fact that 
the Agreement with Hyndburn Leisure does impose similar requirements on Hyndburn 
Leisure.   

 
 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 Not accepting the grant award – this is rejected as Hyndburn Leisure have suffered 

significant financial losses in 2020/21 and are forecasting further losses in 2021/22 due 
to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic which included several enforced closures of 
all leisure services. 

 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 None 
 
 
 
6. Implications 
 

Page 26



Page 5 of 5 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The Council will be awarded £172,527 in 
total, the majority of which (£170,985) will be 
passed over to Hyndburn Leisure, with the 
remaining amount spent on monitoring and 
evaluation which is a condition of the award. 
There are no future financial commitments for 
the Council as a result of the report. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The decision requires that the Council enter 
into separate legal agreements with Sport 
England and Hyndburn Leisure. Legal 
Services have advised on the risks 
associated with the agreement with Sport 
England as summarised in 3.10 and 3.11 and 
have produced the agreement between the 
Council and Hyndburn Leisure. 

Assessment of risk 
 

The legal risks have been assessed and it is 
determined that the benefits of the grant 
award outweigh the risks. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

Attached. 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of 
 reports to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  
 
 
If the report is public, insert the following paragraph. If the report is exempt, contact 
Member Services for advice. 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 27

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


This page is intentionally left blank



HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL  
  

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION  
  

(Executive Procedure Rule B16)  
_______________________________________________________________________  

  

Summary and Approvals  
   

1.  Title of Report       

Appointment of an external expert consultant to work on the Council’s Levelling Up Fund 

bid.  
  

2. Report Author      

  Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment)  
  

3. Purpose of Report  

  

3.1 The background to this matter is set out in the attached report.  
  

4. Decision requested  

  

4.1 The recommendations are set out in the attached report.  
  

5.  Reasons for Urgency  

  

5.1  To progress quickly the appointment of an expert consultant in order to meet the 

extraordinarily short deadlines for submission into Round 1 by the 18 June 2021. A decision 

on this matter is needed urgently and cannot wait until the next Cabinet meeting takes 

place.  
  

6.  Approvals of Members and Officers  

  

Designation  Signature to give Approval  

Elected Members    
  

Leader of the Council,  
Cllr Miles Parkinson  

 Approved by email 

  

Deputy Leader of the Council,  
Cllr Paul Cox 

 Approved by email 

  

Portfolio Holder,  
Cllr Joyce Plummer 

 Approved by email 

  

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 

Cllr June Harrison  
 Agreed by email 

  

  
Officers  
  

  

Chief Executive, Mr. David Welsby 

  

  
Approved by email 

Page 29



Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker)  

  - 

 

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker)  

  

 - 

Chief Officer/Head of Service, 

Mr. Steve Riley 

    
  

  

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved):   Thursday, 26th March 2021 

Page 30



REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE:  

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE - Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Steve Riley – Executive Director (Environment) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Appointment of an external expert consultant to 
work on the Council’s Levelling Up Fund bid. 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication:  

 
 
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To seek approval to waive the Council’s Contracts Procedure Rules for the appointment 

of a suitably experienced consultant to develop, write and lead on the Council’s bid into 
the Government’s Levelling Up Fund. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet agrees to waive the Contracts Procedure Rules and grants delegated 

authority to the Executive Director (Environment), following consultation with the 
Executive Director (Legal & Democratic Services) to agree the terms of the agreement, 
to appoint an external consultant as set out in paragraph 3.5, 3.6 and 3.7 of the report. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 The Levelling Up Fund was announced at the 2020 Spending Review and will focus on 

capital investment in local infrastructure projects that require up to £20m of funding and 
builds on prior programmes such as the ‘Local Growth Fund’ and ‘Towns Fund’. 

 
3.2 Within the Fund guidance, the Government is expecting bidding authorities to have 

consulted with their local Member of Parliament as well as a range of relevant local 
stakeholders across the full geography of a place in developing and agreeing their 
proposals and submitted bid. 

 
3.3 The first round of the Fund will focus on three themes: smaller transport projects that 

make a genuine difference to local areas; town centre and high street regeneration; and 
support for maintaining and expanding the UK’s world-leading portfolio of cultural and 
heritage assets. Eligible Local Authorities must submit their bids to the Ministry of 
Housing, Communities and Local Government by noon on Friday 18 June 2021. 

Page 31



3.4 First Round funding will priories projects which are able to demonstrate investment or 
begin delivery on the ground within the 2021-22 financial year and all funding provided 
by the Fund to be spent buy 31st March 2024. It is therefore essential that projects 
proposed and agreed are as close to ‘oven ready’ or are realistically deliverable by the 
Council and any stakeholder partners.   

 
3.5 It is recognised that the Council does not have the specific knowledge or experienced 

staff ‘in house’ to produce a first class bid submission into the Government’s Levelling 
Up Fund. However, three external consultants have been identified as ‘experts’ in 
delivering successful bids and have experience in understanding how the relevant 
Government Funding departments judge successful bids.  

 
3.6 The three consultants who have been identified to the Council are; 

 Bradshaw Advisory, 83 Ducie Street, Manchester, England, M1 2JQ 

 Genecon, Joseph's Well, Hanover Walk, Leeds, LS3 1AB  

 Hatch, Faulkner House, Faulkner Street, Manchester, M1 4AN  
 
3.7 Waiving the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules, means the successful consultant can 

be appointed and quickly commence work, as we avoid the longer time involved in 
running a formal tendering exercise. We will of course consider which proposal is the 
most advantageous and provides any added value to the Council, which should ensure 
value for money. The tight timescale for bid submission also means that this matter 
needs to proceed by way of emergency approval, as we cannot wait until the next 
scheduled Cabinet meeting. 

 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 It is important that the appointment is undertaken quickly if the Council is to have any 

realistic opportunity in achieving the wish to submit a Round 1 bid. 
 
4.2 The alternative would be to delay the Council’s submission until later rounds are 

announced. However, there is no information on future dates and it is the Leader of the 
Council, Hyndburn MP and wider stakeholder group’s wish that the Council submit a 
Round 1 bid. 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 A steering group comprising of the Leader of the Council, Leader of the Opposition, MP 

and approximately 15 partners who represent a wide range of Companies / Local 
Business Organisations, Leisure, Education, Police, Regional Development, Community 
Groups, Lancashire County Council etc. have come together to decide how best to use 
the Council’s £150,000 Economic Recovery Fund. 

 
5.2 The Steering Group were in agreement to use the fund and appoint a suitably 

experienced consultant to develop, prepare and write a bid on behalf of the Council for 
submission into Round 1 of the Governments Levelling Up Fund.  

 

 

Page 32



6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

The Council had set aside £150,000 from the 
Additional Restrictions Grant to create an 
Economic Recovery fund and will use this 
fund to cover the cost of the consultant’s 
work.  
 
By submitting a bid into Round 1, the Council 
could forfeit an opportunity to receive a flat 
£125,000 of capacity funding from the 
Levelling Up Fund that will be allocated to all 
eligible local authorities to support the 
development of bids for later rounds of the 
fund. However, at the moment there are no 
details, dates or guidance for the later 
funding rounds. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

The approval to waive the Council’s 
Contracts Procedure Rules is required in 
order to fulfil our legal obligations in relation 
to procurement procedures.  
 
A suitable deed of appointment will be 
entered into with the selected consultant. 
 
There are no human rights implications for 
this report. 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

Not appointing the external consultant 
quickly will most likely result in the Council 
not being able to submit a bid into Round 1. 
 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

N/A for this report 

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of 
 reports to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  

Page 33

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


This page is intentionally left blank



1 of 2 

HYNDBURN BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

APPROVAL FOR URGENT EXECUTIVE (CABINET) DECISION 
 

(Executive Procedure Rule B16) 
_______________________________________________________________________ 

 

Summary and Approvals 
  

1. Title of Report: Super Slow Way Project Contribution 
 

2. Report Author: David Welsby, Chief Executive 
 

3. Purpose of Report 

 
To obtain Cabinet approval for a project contribution from Hyndburn Borough Council of 
£10,000 per annum for three years towards a £0.5 million Arts Council England (ACE) 
funded project, led by Super Slow Way who are hosted by the Canal and River Trust. 

 

4. Decision requested 
 

That Cabinet approves a project contribution from Hyndburn Borough Council of £10,000 
per annum to the Canal and River Trust for three financial years in support of the Super 
Slow Way project. 

 

5. Reason for Urgency 
 

Council officers and partners responsible for the Borough’s Leisure and Culture offer are 
keen to progress with signing the Memorandum of Understanding with the Canal and River 
Trust, which will release funds from Arts Council England.  However, the next scheduled 
meeting of the Cabinet is not until 9

th
 June 2021, which would cause significant delay to and 

uncertainty around the project. 
 

6. Approvals of Members and Officers 

 

Designation Signature to give Approval 

Elected Members  
 

Leader of the Council Approved by e-mail 16/04/21 

 

Deputy Leader of the Council Approved by e-mail 16/04/21 

 

Portfolio Holder – Cllr Munsif Dad BEM 
JP 

Approved by e-mail 16/04/21 

 

Mayor (to agree to exempt from call-in) 

 

Approved by e-mail 16/04/21 

 

Officers 

 

 

Chief Executive  

 

(See Chief Officer/Head of Service  
taking the decision, below) 

 

  
Page 35



2 of 2 

Deputy Chief Executive (only in the 
absence of the Chief Executive or if the 
Chief Executive is the decision taker) 

 

Approved by e-mail 16/04/21 

Monitoring Officer (only in the absence of 
the Chief Executive and Deputy Chief 
Executive or if one is absent and the 
other is the decision taker) 

 

(Not required) 

Chief Officer/Head of Service 
David Welsby, Chief Executive 

 

Approved by e-mail 22/04/21 

 
 

7. Date of Decision (when finally approved): 22
nd

 April 2021 

Page 36



Page 1 of 3 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 22 March 2021 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Munsif Dad BEM, JP - Education, Leisure 
and Arts 

REPORT AUTHOR: David Welsby 

TITLE OF REPORT: Super Slow Way project contribution 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

  

KEY DECISION: Yes If yes, date of publication: 16 April 2021 

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
 
1.1 To obtain Cabinet approval for a project contribution from Hyndburn Borough Council 

of £10,000 per annum for three years towards a £0.5 million Arts Council England 
(ACE) funded project, led by Super Slow Way who are hosted by the Canal and River 
Trust. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet approves a project contribution from Hyndburn Borough Council of 

£10,000 per annum to the Canal and River Trust for three financial years in support of 
the Super Slow Way project. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Super Slow Way is one of the Creative People & Places (CPP) programmes across the 

country funded by Arts Council England (ACE) to develop innovative ways of engaging 
people in arts activities in areas identified as cultural ‘cold spots’. 

 
3.2 They operate in Pennine Lancashire, along the Leeds & Liverpool Canal corridor, 

hosted by the Canal & River Trust, in conjunction  with a consortium made up of the 
four local authorities of Blackburn, Hyndburn, Burnley and Pendle, UCLan, Creative 
Lancashire and Arts Partners Pennine Lancashire (APPL). 

 
3.3 Super Slow Way has identified a commitment to supporting cultural programming in 

Hyndburn in conjunction with  the Council, Community Solutions Northwest, 

Page 37



Page 2 of 3 
 

Lancashire Library Service and a range of cultural and community organisations in the 
borough.  

 
3.4 During Super Slow Way Phase 2 audiences of over 130,000 people experienced their 

programme across Pennine Lancashire.  Diversity is a hallmark of their programme, 
offering events and exhibitions that attract some of the most integrated audiences in 
the UK.  

 
3.5 To date Super Slow Way have spent £205,250 in Hyndburn during their phase 2 

programme and they intend to continue to make use of the Borough’s wonderful assets 
including libraries, the Civic, Gatty Park, Haworth Art Gallery, the Market Hall, Church 
Kirk, the canal and the town centre for contemporary performance, exhibitions and 
installations. 

 
3.6 Super Slow Way made a successful bid to ACE for a further £500,000 to fund their 

programme from 2021 to 2023 and are requesting support and a financial contribution 
of £10,000 per annum from the Council for this period. 

 
 
4. Consultations 
 
4.1 Not applicable 
 
 
5. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

There is an immediate financial consequence 
from this report.  The report proposes that a 
contribution of £10,000 is made in 2021/22 to 
Super Slow Way.  The same value of 
contribution is also committed during 2022/23 
and 2023/24. 
 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

A grant agreement would be required 
between the Council and the Canal & Rivers 
Trust in respect of this funding 

Assessment of risk 
 

None at this stage.  

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

The project will bring a range of cultural 
opportunities to the area, engaging young 
people and adults from across our community 
in accessible, positive cultural experiences.  
 

 
 
 
 

Page 38

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 3 of 3 
 

 
 
6. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
6.1 No previous reports shared. 
 
7. Freedom of Information 
 
7.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 2 

 

 
 

CABINET MEMBERSHIP AND PORTFOLIO RESPONSIBILITIES 2021/22  
 

 
Cabinet Member 

 
Portfolio 

Councillor Miles Parkinson Leader of the Council 
 

 Overall responsibility for the Council’s strategic and 
corporate direction 

 Overall strategic and financial management of the 
Council 

 Partnerships and economic development 

 Regeneration 

 Police and Crime Commissioner 

 Planning & Transportation 

 Lancashire Leaders / Pennine Leaders / Shadow 
Combined Authority 

 

Councillor Paul Cox 
 
(Statutory deputy for the 
purposes of the Local 
Government and Public 
Involvement in Health Act 2007) 

Deputy Leader of the Council 
 

 Deputising for the Leader of the Council 

 Environmental Services 

 Waste management and enforcement 

 Refuse and recycling collections 

 Street cleaning 

 Parks and open spaces 

 Grounds maintenance 

 Cemeteries and crematoria 

 Environmental Health 

 CVMU 

 Town Centres and Markets 

 Public events 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 41

Agenda Item 7.



 

Page 2 of 2 

 

Cabinet Member 
 

Portfolio 

Councillor Loraine Cox Regeneration and Wellbeing 
 

 Housing and neighbourhoods 

 Liaison with housing associations and private sector 
housing providers 

 Asset management and maintenance 

 Equality and diversity 

 Cohesion and integration 

 Community and voluntary sector liaison 

 Older people and vulnerable adults 

 Health and social care 

 Community safety 

 Customer focus 
 

Councillor Joyce Plummer Resources 
 

 Finance and the budget process 

 Health and safety 

 Revenues and Benefits Service 

 IT 

 Audit function 

 Human resources and organisational development 

 Constitution and corporate governance 

 Licensing 
 

Councillor Munsif Dad Education, Leisure and Arts 
 

 Education, Skills, Employment & Worklessness 

 Children, young people and families 

 Sports Centres and Leisure Trust 

 Sports development 

 Public halls and public events 

 Tourism 

 Arts and culture 

 Allotments and Prospects 

 Climate change / Environmental agenda 
 

 

Page 42



Page 1 of 9 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 09 June 2021 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Miles Parkinson OBE - Leader 

REPORT AUTHOR: Julian Joinson, Member Services Manager 

TITLE OF REPORT: Appointment of Cabinet Committees and Cabinet 
Groups 2021/22 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

No Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: No If yes, date of publication: N/A 

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To confirm the establishment of Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups for the 

2021/22 Municipal Year and to appoint members to the Committees and Groups. 
 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1 That Cabinet agrees to the establishment of the Cabinet Committees and Cabinet 

Groups, and with the terms of reference, as set out in Appendix 1 to this report; 
and,  

 
2.2 That the membership of the Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups, as set out in  
 paragraph 3.7 be approved. 
 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 In June 2015, Cabinet established the Cabinet Committee (Scrap Metal Dealers Act 

2013). The Cabinet Committee determines whether to grant, renew, revoke or vary 
scrap metal licences pursuant to the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013, where the 
applicant or licensee (as the case may be) has informed the Council that they wish to 
make oral representations.  This enables compliance with statutory requirements. 

 
3.2 In December 2017, Cabinet established the Cabinet Committee (Street Naming).  The 

Cabinet Committee discharges the Council’s functions in respect of the naming and 
renaming of streets pursuant to Sections 17 and 18 Public Health Act 1925. 

 
3.3 In June 2018 the Cabinet established the Cabinet Committee (Digital Committee).  The 

Cabinet Committee provides a forum for Cabinet to consider the impact of the digital 
economy on the Borough and its town centres in particular. 

Page 43

Agenda Item 8.



Page 2 of 9 
 

 
3.4 In June 2015, Cabinet also established the following three Cabinet Groups which act in 

an advisory capacity to Cabinet and do not have any delegated or decision making 
powers: 

 

 Covenant Commemoration Working Group (formerly Accrington Pals Centenary 
Commemorations Group 

 Cabinet Public Transport Group 

 Cabinet Waste and Recycling Group 
 
3.5 It is proposed that the above Groups continue into 2021/22, subject to the following 

consideration.  An exercise was undertaken by Member Services in July 2020 to 
ascertain the activity status of a number of Working Groups and Panels, as 
Coronavirus restrictions started to ease.  The Public Transport Group, has not met 
since November 2016 and the Head of Planning and Transportation has identified this 
Group as potentially surplus to requirements.  It is acknowledged that some of the 
projects identified within the Group’s terms of reference have now been completed.  
However, there are other matters, such as on-going rail transport considertions, which 
might warrant the continuation of this Group.  Members are therefore invited to confirm 
the retention of this Group. 

 
3.6 The terms of reference for all of the bodies are appended to the report and Cabinet is 

also asked to appoint Members to these bodies.  Members are also asked to note that 
provision set out in the terms of reference of the three groups identified at Paragraph 
3.4, for a nominee from the Independents (a notified political group which no longer 
exists in Hyndburn), would not normally be construed as applying to an individual 
Independent Member. 

 
3.7 The proposed membership is as follows:- 
  

Cabinet Committee (Scrap 
Metal Dealers Act 2013) 

Councillor Loraine Cox (Chair) 
Councillors Paul Cox and Miles Parkinson 

Cabinet Committee (Street 
Naming) 

Councillor Loraine Cox (Chair) 
Councillors Munsif Dad and Miles Parkinson 
Councillor Judith Addison (attending) 

Cabinet Committee (Digital 
Economy) 

Councillor Munsif Dad (Chair) 
Councillors Joyce Plummer and Paul Cox 

Covenant Commemoration 
Working Group 

Councillor Miles Parkinson (Chair) 
Councillors Judith Addison and Paddy Short 

Cabinet Public Transport 
Group 

Councillor Miles Parkinson (Chair) 
Councillors Judith Addison, Noordad Aziz, Michael 
Hindley and Tim O’Kane 

Cabinet Waste and Recycling 
Group 

Councillor Paul Cox (Chair) 
Councillors Michael Miller, Joyce Plummer and Kate 
Walsh 

 
 
 

Page 44



Page 3 of 9 
 

4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 None were considered, although Cabinet can decide not to appoint any of the 

proposed panels and groups if it wishes. 
 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 Consultations took place with relevant members to determine membership of these 

bodies. 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None. 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

None, other than those discussed in section 3 
above. 
 
 
 

Assessment of risk 
 

None. 

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 
an appendix to the report.  
 

None identified. 

 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Reports to Cabinet 14th June 2015, 6th December 2017 and 6th June 2018. 
 

https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2186&Ver=4 
 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2190&Ver=4 
 
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s7680/Appointment%20of%20Cabinet%20Com
mittees%20and%20Groups.pdf 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 45

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2186&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=133&MId=2190&Ver=4
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s7680/Appointment%20of%20Cabinet%20Committees%20and%20Groups.pdf
https://democracy.hyndburnbc.gov.uk/documents/s7680/Appointment%20of%20Cabinet%20Committees%20and%20Groups.pdf


Page 4 of 9 
 

 
APPENDIX 1 

 
Cabinet Committee (Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013)  

 

MEMBERSHIP:          3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To determine whether to grant, renew, revoke or vary scrap metal licences pursuant to the 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 where the applicant or licensee (as the case may be) has 
informed the Council that they wish to make oral representations in accordance with 
paragraphs (7) and (8) of Schedule 1 of that Act 

 

 To discharge the Council’s functions under paragraph 8 Schedule 1 of the Scrap Metal 
Dealers Act 2013. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

Page 46



Page 5 of 9 
 

CABINET COMMITTEE (STREET NAMING)  
 

MEMBERSHIP:               3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) and a councillor nominated by the Leader 
of the main opposition group may attend 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 

 To discharge the Council’s functions in respect of the naming and renaming of streets pursuant to 
sections 17 and 18 Public Health Act 1925 

 

  

Page 47



Page 6 of 9 
 

Cabinet Committee (Digital Economy)  
 

MEMBERSHIP:          3 Members of Cabinet (with a quorum of 3) 

REPORTS TO:            Cabinet 
 

 
TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 To consider the impact of the digital economy on the Borough, in particular in respect of its 
impact on town centres and retailers; and 

 To advise Cabinet and to formulate proposals and strategies in respect of the same for 
approval by Cabinet. 
  

Page 48



Page 7 of 9 
 

 
Covenant Commemoration Working Group 

 
Membership 
 
Four Councillors – 
 Two from the controlling group;  
 One Conservative Group nominee;  
 One Independents nominee 
 
Mrs Turner, widow of Honorary Freeman Bill Turner 
 
Representatives of British Legion 
 
Representatives of other groups, to be invited at the discretion of the Chair.   
 
Terms of Reference 
 
1. To consider any issues arising or support proposed in connection with the Armed 

Forces Covenant. 
 
2. To consider any proposals arising to commemorate the Accrington Pals Battalion. 
 
3. To report findings and recommendations to Cabinet. 
 
  

Page 49



Page 8 of 9 
 

Cabinet Public Transport Group 
 
Membership 
 
Five Councillors - 
 Three from the controlling group;  
 One Conservative Group nominee;  
 One Independents nominee 
 
All Hyndburn Division Lancashire County Councillors to be invited 
 
Officers from Hyndburn Borough Council, Lancashire County Council and other organisations 
to be invited at the discretion of the Chair.  
 
Representatives of public transport organisations including local bus operating companies 
and rail companies (network and rail services), to be invited at the discretion of the Chair.   
 
Representatives of user groups where appropriate, to be invited at the discretion of the Chair.   
 
Terms of reference 
 
1. To consider the issues surrounding initiatives such as those described below, with a 

view to ensuring that the schemes meet the needs of the Borough and do not have an 
adverse impact on local residents.   

 

 Pennine Reach, Accrington Bus Station and Great Harwood Interchange 

 Potential improvements to M65 or A56 

 Blackburn Road, Accrington 

 Whinney Hill Link Road 
 
2. To report findings and recommendations to Cabinet.   
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 50



Page 9 of 9 
 

Cabinet Waste and Recycling Group 
 
Membership 
 
Five Councillors - 
 Three from the controlling group;  
 One Conservative Group nominee;  
 One Independents nominee 
 
Head of Community Services  
 
The chair shall have discretion to invite other officers or Members as required. 
 
 
Terms of Reference 
  
1. To review current recycling streams and examine opportunities to mix materials and 

recycle additional waste. 
 
2. To review the types and numbers of recycling containers and opportunities to make the 

service more attractive to residents 
 
3. To review collection methods and the replacement of collection vehicles 
 
4. To report findings to Cabinet with any recommendations and costed options for 

improving the service and increasing recycling rates   
 

 
 

 
 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 5 
 

REPORT TO: Cabinet 

DATE: 09 June 2021 

PORTFOLIO: Cllr Joyce Plummer - Resources 

REPORT AUTHOR: Stuart Sambrook (Policy Manager) 

TITLE OF REPORT: Council Tax Data Sharing Agreement 

EXEMPT REPORT  
(Local Government 
Act 1972, Schedule 
12A)  

Options Not applicable 

KEY DECISION: Options If yes, date of publication:  

 
  
1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 To inform Cabinet that the Council has been asked to enter into a DSA (Data Sharing 

Agreement) with the ONS (Office for National Statistics) for the purpose of sharing 
Council Tax data to ensure the Council supports ONS to deliver an accurate population 
count in the latest Census 21 and future ONS general statistical returns. 

 
2. Recommendations  
 
2.1  

That the Council enter into a data sharing agreement with the ONS (Office for National 
Statistics) to share Council Tax data as outlined in the attached report for the purpose 
of: 
           (a) assisting the ONS to delivering an accurate Census 2021 for Hyndburn; and 
           (b) setting a framework for the ongoing monthly supply of council tax data to the 

ONS to  improve the quality and accuracy of ONS general statistical data 
and the locally stratified data relating to the Borough and its population 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations and Background 
 
3.1 Every decade the Office for National Statistics (ONS) carries out a national Census 

and work with local authorities to deliver a successful campaign encouraging the local 
community to participate to help plan for future needs ensuring the big decisions facing 
the country is based on the best information possible. 

 
3.2 The Census is a way the country can help plan its way out of a pandemic and help 

underpin economic benefits by providing accurate low lying data which is used in many 
aspects of lives e.g., statistics to support decision making, to steer policy, allocating 
resources, funding bids, education and planning services. So it’s beneficial that each 

Page 53

Agenda Item 9.



Page 2 of 5 
 

area gets as many households to complete the survey to provide an accurate picture 
and representation of their local area. 

 
3.3 The Council has been asked to share its Council Tax data on a monthly basis with the 

ONS (Office for National Statistics) to help improve the accuracy and quality of the 
Census both locally and nationally by entering into a Data Sharing Agreement with the 
ONS. The ONS have also asked the Council to continue to share council tax data with 
it on an ongoing monthly basis once the work on the Census has concluded.  

 
3.4 The DSA contains a list of variables that will need to be extracted from the Council’s 

Revenue and Benefit System which will include information such as name, address, 
council tax band, amount paid, reduction, amount liable, disability reduction, exemption 
type, and empty or second home supplied to ONS on a monthly basis using extraction 
software called MoveIt. This will be managed on the authority’s behalf, unless the 
Council agree to use a different software with ONS. Then the Council Tax Data will be 
stored securely in ONS’s Data Access Platform (DAP) and will be de-identified at the 
earliest possible point by business areas who will use it. 
 

3.5 Council Tax data will be key to quality assuring Census data. Moreover, in the longer-
term term Council Tax data will be used to help ONS contribute towards statistics 
across many areas such as socio-economic indicators, housing stock, social mobility 
and so on. This will also enable ONS to produce timely, locally stratified data for 
councils across the country. 

 
3.6 ONS will only use the data provided to produce anonymised statistics. There will be no 

direct impact at all on individual members of the public from the use of this data. 
Record level data will be used for data linkage, but this will be done by algorithms so 
personal data will not be seen by ONS researchers and statisticians, further minimising 
any risk to individuals. 

 
3.7 Council Tax data will help support ONS produce regular government statistical 

releases to inform policy-making decisions, provide mid-year population estimates, 
helps to monitor the economy and is a primary measure of inflation. The data are also 
used by businesses, universities, the media and the public to monitor the government's 
performance and gain a better understanding of the UK economy. At local authority 
level it helps the Council understand housing need, future housing growth and many 
more vital indicators involved in the whole decision making process and steering future 
policy. 

 
3.8 The reasons ONS require Council Tax data is because Personal Identifiable 

Information is required to enable ONS to link to other administrative data sources, 
which will allow the ONS to produce statistics beyond what is possible using Council 
Tax data in isolation. Names, for example, are one of the most important linkage 
variables that we use to ensure that we can have a high degree of confidence in the 
match, something that cannot be achieved without using people’s names. 

  
3.9 By linking datasets rather than treating them individually analysts can draw insights 

from across the data, which helps ONS find new patterns that otherwise might not be 
seen. The matching and linking is carried out by algorithms which means the names 

Page 54



Page 3 of 5 
 

aren’t actually seen by ONS statisticians or researchers using the data, they get an 
aggregate or anonymised output. 

 
3.10 The ICO (Information Commissioner's Office) states that Data Sharing Agreements are 

not intended to be legally enforceable – ‘drafting and adhering to an agreement does 
not in itself provide you with any form of legal indemnity from action under the data 
protection legislation or other law.’ It is however something that the ICO will take into 
account should either party make a complaint.  

 
3.11 Data Sharing Agreements are created to provide clarification and understanding to 

what data is being shared, for what purpose and whether there is a lawful basis for 
doing so. It addresses legal concerns but it does not enforce them.  

 
3.12 The DSA is simply a memorandum of understanding with agreed steps for both parties 

to take. Once the Council data is passed to ONS they are responsible for the data. If 
there is ever a data breach (which in 220 years has yet to happen) or ONS breaks 
GDPR guidelines, then the ICO would hold ONS to account. So as regards to that 
there is a legal enforcement route, albeit not between ONS and Hyndburn. From the 
information supplied by the ONS, the ONS appear to have appropriate data security 
measures in place. 

 
3.13 The DSA is not specific to the Census and they will continue to collect data after the 

Census has been completed. 
  
3.14  To date Council Tax data is already being submitted to the ONS on this basis and for 

these purposes by 313 councils. 
 
4. Alternative Options considered and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 If the Council does not agree to share the data there is a possibility of implications on 

the Local Authority being served with a notice.  
 

Under s45C SRSA 2007, the UK Statistics Authority has the power to issue a Notice on 
public authorities (in this instance Local Authorities (LA)) requiring them by law to share 
the information ONS are requesting in order to exercise our statistical functions. This 
differs to the current request for information under s45A SRSA, which allows the LA to 
exercise their own discretion as to whether or not to share the information.  

 
4.2 At present, data requested without mandation allows for a degree of negotiation on the 

terms of data sharing and comes with the added benefit of flexibility around submission 
dates. However, voluntary agreement is also suggested to avoid the risk of criminal 
liability for the Council and its staff which may arise if provision of the data is 
mandated. 

 
4.3 Failure to comply with a Notice once it has been served constitutes a criminal offence, 

such offence will have been committed not only by the local authority, but also by any 
officer of that local authority with responsibility for the breach (see sections 45F(4) and 
45F(5)). Such an offence may or may not be prosecuted by the Crown Prosecution 
Service depending on the circumstances. 

Page 55



Page 4 of 5 
 

 
5. Consultations 
 
5.1 None 
 
6. Implications 
 

Financial implications (including 
any future financial commitments 
for the Council) 
 

None identified 

Legal and human rights 
implications 
 

 
The Council has a legal power to share the 
requested data with the ONS under the terms 
of GDPR / Data Protection Act 2018, so the 
data sharing proposed is lawful under 
sections 7 – 11 Data Protection Act 2018. In 
particular, there is power to share data in the 
performance of a task in the public interest 
where necessary for the performance of a 
function of the Crown or a Government 
Department and there is power to share 
special category personal data for purposes 
related to archiving, research and statistics. 
 
The agreement is not legally enforceable and 
the ONS do not offer any warranties to the 
Council. If a data breach were to occur this 
would be a matter for the Information 
Commissioner to deal with and to take 
enforcement action if required. 

Assessment of risk 
 

There is a risk that customers will not wish 
their data to be shared with the ONS. The 
data sharing is lawful and does not need their 
consent, but some may see this as an 
infringement of privacy. The steps taken to 
avoid privacy breaches are set out in section 
3. 
There is a risk of a data protection breach by 
the ONS. Legally this would be the 
responsibility of the ONS, although local 
people could be adversely impacted if such a 
breach were to occur, especially on a large 
scale.  

Equality and diversity implications 
A Customer First Analysis should be 
completed in relation to policy 
decisions and should be attached as 

A Customer First Analysis has been 
completed – Appendix 1. 

Page 56

http://hyntranet/index.php?option=com_remository&Itemid=80&func=startdown&id=1407


Page 5 of 5 
 

an appendix to the report.  

 
 
7. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985: 

List of Background Papers  
 
7.1 Copies of documents included in this list must be open to inspection and, in the case of 
 reports to Cabinet, must be published on the website.  
 
 
If the report is public, insert the following paragraph. If the report is exempt, contact 
Member Services for advice. 
 
8. Freedom of Information 
 
8.1 The report does not contain exempt information under the Local Government Act 1972, 
 Schedule 12A and all information can be disclosed under the Freedom of Information 
 Act 2000. 
 
 
 
 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 59

Agenda Item 11.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3. Minutes of Cabinet
	Minutes

	4. Minutes of Boards, Panels and Working Groups
	Minutes

	5. Urgent Decisions Taken
	(a)(ii) Main Report - NRLF Award
	(b)(i) Urgency Report - Levelling Up Fund Consultant
	(b)(ii) Main Report - Levelling Up Fund Consultant
	(c)(i) Urgency Report - Super Slow Way Project
	(c)(ii) Main Report - Super Slow Way Project

	7. Portfolio Responsibilities 2021/22
	8. Appointment of Cabinet Committees and Cabinet Groups 2021/22
	9. Council Tax Data Sharing Agreement
	11. Urgent Decisions Taken
	(a)(ii) Main Report - Loan to Hyndburn Leisure Ltd


